1964

Delbert M. Yergensen v. Emmett D. Ford and N. E. Ferguson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to renew a judgment against the defendants which the latter allege is outlawed by the Statute of Limitations.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was originally submitted by Stipulation to the pre-trial judge for disposition. Judgment finally resulted from plaintiffs motion for summary judgment at which time a verdict and judgment was granted to defendant.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment and judgment in his favor.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff obtained judgment on September 15, 1949, on three notes executed by the defendants. On April 18, 1950 the defendants, in order to release

a lien on real estate entered into an acknowledgment of and agreement to pay the obligation and did make payment thereafter in the amount of \$450.00, notations of said payments being made on the acknowledgment. (Tr. 4-6). This last payment was made on October 10, 1950. On February 5, 1958 an action was filed to renew the original judgment which was more than eight years after the judgment was obtained but less than eight years after the acknowledgment and payment. The defendant then raised the question of the Statute of Limitations as a defense.

At Pre-trial on October 14, 1960, the Court upon the stipulation of counsel agreed to decide the issue forthwith but gave counsel for defendant and respondent time to file a brief. No less than nine written requests and three personal visits were made to the Court ^{AND} ~~by~~ the defendants counsel in an effort to get a decision. Finally three years and

eight months later the Court rendered a decision upon plaintiff's motion for summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE COURT ERRED IN NOT HOLDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOUND IN 78-12-22 WAS TOLLED BY A WRITTEN ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND PAYMENT ON THE JUDGMENT

The Utah Statute of Limitations relating to judgments is Section 78-12-22, UCA 1953, which is set out below.

"An action upon a judgment or decree of any Court of the United States or of any state or territory within the United States."

Appellant admits that there is a split of authority as to whether or not a judgment is taken without the Statute of Limitations by an acknowledgment and payment thereon. However, it does submit that its position is the strongest of the majority rule; strongest in that some jurisdictions allow the tolling with part

payment, others with written acknowledgment. In this instance we find both a written acknowledgment and substantial payments made over a period of five months. Appellant further contends that the majority opinion furthers the cause of justice and public policy more than the minority view expressed by the respondent.

The tolling of the Statute of Limitations by part payment and written acknowledgment was known at common law as it evidenced by Vol. 34, Am. Jur. Section 333, Page 262.

"The effect of part payment in taking a case out of the operation of the Statute of Limitations or in enlarging the time during which an action may be brought, is not derived from statutory provisions but results from the decision of the Courts. Although no provision was made either in the Act of James I or in Lord Tenterden Act with respect to the effects of part

payment on the operation of the Statute of Limitations, a judicial exception was engrafted thereon at an early date, to the effect that a part payment of a debt or obligation will take it out of the operation of the statute, and in the absence of a statutory modification or change this is the generally prevailing rule in this country. "

It is therefore apparent that the absence of any statute in the State of Utah specifically encompassing judgments within this doctrine of limitations is not fatal to appellants position; that this rule prevailed at common law and prevails now in the majority of the States in the Union. Not that it hasn't been interpreted differently in various jurisdictions as a result of statutes and judicial decisions, but that the existence of this doctrine is justified in all jurisdictions except those containing express statutory enactments against it.

Appellant cites the annotations in 45 ALR 2d 970 as containing representative decisions from the different jurisdictions. Two of the many directly in point are cited below:

The California case of Wilson v. Walters (1944) 66 Cal. App. 2d 1, 151 P. 2685 contained in the ALR citation was an action to renew a judgment and concerned a series of payments together with a letter stating it was impossible to make payment on the matter. The Court held:

"It is a question of law as to whether an acknowledgment in writing is sufficient to toll the statute." Sterling v. Title Insurance Co., 53 Cal. App. 2d 736, 740, 128 P. 2d 31, 34.

In that case in discussing the essentials of an acknowledgment, it is stated:

"The essentials of a sufficient acknowledgment have been frequently stated and were well expressed in Southern Pacific Co. v. Prosser, 898, 122 Cal. App. 413 at page 415, 52 P. 836, 837, 55 P 145 as follows:

'The distinct and unqualified admission of an existing debt, contained in a writing, signed by the party to be charged, and without intimation of an intent to refuse payment thereof, suffices to establish the debt to which the contract relates as a continuing contract and to interrupt the running of the Statute of Limitations against the same. From such an acknowledgment the law implies a promise to pay.' "

---'Applying the rule it will be seen that the defendant's letter definitely and unqualifiedly admits the debt and that there is no intimation in it of an intent to refuse payment. Therefore, the effect of the correspondence was to waive so much of the period of limitations as had theretofore run in favor of the defendants. From the date of the letter it becomes manifest that the action was brought in time.'" Vassere v. Jorger, 10 Cal. 2d 689, 692, 76 P. 2d 656; Southern Pacific Company v. Prosser, Supra."

In the instant case we have an agreement signed by Emmett D. Ford on the 18th day of April, 1950, which is much stronger than a mere letter acknowledging the debt as existed in the above California case. This agreement together with payments

made during 1950 and 1951 in the amount of at least \$450.00 appear to be sufficient to invoke the rule of the above case which is in the California jurisdiction and which jurisdiction has a statute similar to that of ours in Utah.

A similar finding was reached by the Montana Court in the case of Dodge v. Simon (1942), 113 Montana 536, 129 P. 2d 224. It was recognized by the Court that the Statute of Limitations upon a decree quieting title to real estate, having the effect of a judgment, was tolled by an acknowledgment of the existence of the judgment unsatisfied made in open court, the court stating, with reference to its application of the majority rule respecting the tolling of a statute upon judgment for the recovery of money, that it could see no reason why the rule should not be applied to judgment for recovery of possession of real property, as well.

Quoting from the court directly:

"While there is divergency of views of the question, the cases holding that a statute limiting the time of effectiveness of a judgment may be tolled by acknowledgment of a judgment seem to establish the majority rule, and which we follow. While the cases cited in the annotations above referred to deal with judgments for the recovery of money, we can see no reason why the rule should not be applied to judgment for recovery of possession of real property." (emphasis added)

POINT II. THE COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT SECTION 78-12-44 UCA EXTENDED THE PERIOD DURING WHICH A NEW ACTION COULD BE FILED ON THE ORIGINAL JUDGMENT.

Section 78-12-44, U.C.A., 1953, represents

a statute which the appellant alleges was either not considered or was misconstrued.

"Section 78-12-44. In any case founded on contract, when any part of the principal or interest shall have been paid or an acknowledgment of an existing liability debt or claim, or any promise to pay the same shall have been made, an action may be brought within the period prescribed for the same after such payment acknowledgment or promise; but such acknowledgment

or promise must be in writing signed by the party to be charged thereby. When a right of action is barred by the provision of any statute, it shall be unavailable either as a cause of action or ground of defense."

Appellant submits that the crucial wording of the statute as it relates to this case are the first six words, "In any case founded on contract." (emphasis added) A forced and strained interpretation is certainly necessary to arrive at the conclusion that these words do not include a definite contract in the form of promissory notes which were reduced to judgment. The better reasoning leads one to the easily managable and satisfying determination of the Iowa Court, "that where a contract is enforced by judgment, although it enters into and becomes a part of the judgment, that judgment is not the obligation of the contract but is the authorized power under which those antecedent obligations are to be enforced." Spratt v. Reid (Iowa) 3 G. Greene 489 - 56 Am Dec. 549

A simple reading of the above statute is sufficient to see that judgments per se are not excluded.

But if it be construed that Section 78-12-44 is limited strictly to contracts in their basic form, still many of our courts hold that a judgment can properly be called a contract. 30 A Am Jur, Sec 5, P. 161.

"The decisions are not in accord as to the statutes of a judgment as a contract. If a judgment can properly be considered a contract it is only in a recondite and remote sense of the term or in the ordinary sense of an agreement reached between persons to the terms of which their mutual assent has been given because usually the defendant has not voluntarily assented. However, there are cases in which a judgment is called a contract or a contract of record, or a contract of the highest nature, or a specialty.

Occasionally it has been said that a judgment is in the nature of a contract or that the liability under a judgment is contractual in nature. Since a promise to pay a judgment is implied in law it is sometime regarded as raising an implied contract.

Thus it appears that in some senses and for some purposes a judgment is treated and considered as a contract. This is particularly true with reference to actions and remedies on contracts including the remedy of attachment or garnishment.¹¹

CONCLUSION

Appellant bases its arguments on the two theories set out above. First that the common law allowed the tolling of the Statute of Limitations on obligations by part payment or acknowledgment or by both. That there exists no specific statutory exclusion of judgments and that the law of the State of Utah would follow the majority of courts in the United States by

including judgments in the doctrine. That the respondent by signing an acknowledgment and paying \$450.00 it acknowledged the original agreement and thereby waived whatever part of the Statute of Limitations that had run.

Second, a specified statute 78-12-44, UCA 1953, extends the time during which an action may be brought on any case founded on contract. Appellant alleges that promissory notes reduced to judgment are "founded on contract" (emphasis added)