1964

Delbert M. Yergensen v. Emmett D. Ford and N. E. Ferguson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

Respondent adopts appellant's statement.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Respondent adopts appellant's statement.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent adopts appellant's statement.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant's statement of facts is substantially correct. Respondent would add, however, that the record indicates service of process only upon defendant Emmett D. Ford, and the entire action, including this appeal, pertains only to this defendant personally.

Respondent would also add that the compromise agreement entered into on April 18, 1950, (Tr. 4-6) was an agreement by defendant Emmett D. Ford to pay only a portion of the judgment, and that the original judgment was entered on September 7, 1949.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

AN ACTION BASED ON A PRIOR JUDGMENT, WHICH IS COMMENCED MORE THAN EIGHT (8) YEARS AFTER ENTRY OF THE PRIOR JUDGMENT, IS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

POINT II

THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AS IT PERTAINS TO AN ACTION BASED ON A PRIOR JUDGMENT, IS NOT TOLLED BY AN ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF, OR PAYMENTS ON, SAID JUDGMENT.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

AN ACTION BASED ON A PRIOR JUDGMENT, WHICH IS COMMENCED MORE THAN EIGHT (8)

YEARS AFTER ENTRY OF THE PRIOR JUDGMENT, IS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The present action, to renew a judgment was commenced on February 5, 1958. This was almost 8 years and 5 months from the date of entry of the original judgment (September 7, 1949). The pertinent Utah Statute is as follows:

78-12-22 "Within eight years: an action upon a judgment or decree of any Court of the United States or of any state or territory within the United States."

The conclusiveness of this statute is supplemented by other statutory provisions.

Rule 69, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides in part as follows:

"(a) Process to enforce a judgment shall be by a writ of execution unless the court otherwise directs, which may issue at any time within eight years after the entry of judgment . . ."
(Emphasis ours.)

Title 78-22-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, referring to judgment liens against real property, concludes as follows:

"The lien shall continue for eight years unless the judgment is previously satisfied or unless the enforcement of the judgment is stayed on appeal by the execution of a sufficient undertaking as provided by law, in which case the lien of the judgment ceases."
(Emphasis ours)

Also, in *Youngdale v. Burton*, 102 Utah 169, 128 P2d 1053, a case somewhat similar to the case at bar, the issue

before the court was whether a writ of execution, based on a prior judgment could issue after the expiration of eight years from entry of the judgment. The court said:

“A money judgment forms the basis for but two legal proceedings: (a) A suit thereon, brought within eight years, wherein it forms the basis or chose in action for a new judgment, or (b) Some form of proceedings in execution for collection. Subdivision (a) is disposed of by Section 104-2-21, the eight-year statute of limitations.”

POINT II

THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AS IT PERTAINS TO AN ACTION BASED ON A PRIOR JUDGMENT, IS NOT TOLLED BY AN ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF, OR PAYMENTS ON, SAID JUDGMENT.

Appellant contends that an acknowledgment of, or payment on a prior judgment, should have the effect of tolling the statute of limitations, so that a new action, based on the judgment, might properly be filed within eight years after such acknowledgment or payment. In this connection, appellant cites Title 78-12-44, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which provides that in a case founded on contract, the statute of limitations may be tolled by payment or acknowledgment, and urges that a “judgment” is a “contract” and therefore subject to the provisions of this statute.

With respect to the applicability of a statute of this kind to judgments, the following language points out the general problem and its solution in the courts of various states:

“With respect to judgments, in each instance the decisions seem to turn upon the determination of the question whether the obligation is a contract. Thus, in some jurisdictions, on the theory that a judgment is a contract, it is held that a part payment on a judgment has the same effect to interrupt the running of the statute as it does in the case of other contractual obligations. In other jurisdictions, it is held that a judgment is not a contract within the meaning of limitations statutes and that an action thereon is not *ex contractu*. Decisions, therefore, which adhere to this doctrine hold that a part-payment of a judgment does not remove the bar of the statute or raise a new promise, such as will start it running anew. In these jurisdictions, it is held that a cause of action becomes merged in the judgment rendered in an action to recover thereon, and upon the entry of the judgment, becomes changed in form and its original character wholly extinguished.” (34 Am. Jur., Limitation of Actions, p. 264, Sec. 335)

Since the statutes involved seem to be the controlling factor, an analysis of the pertinent Utah statutes should be helpful:

The Utah statute referred to herein (78-12-44) was originally enacted in 1872. It has not been changed or amended since its original passage. This section was taken verbatim from Kansas, it being originally enacted by that State as Kansas General Statutes, 1868, Page 634, Section 24 (*O'Donnell v. Parker*, 160 Pac. 1192, Utah). This statute has likewise never been changed or amended by the State of Kansas since its original enactment.

It is significant to note that Kansas is among those states in which it has been held that an acknowledgment

of a judgment or a partial payment thereon does not operate to start the statute running anew from the time of the acknowledgment or payment. (Harper v. Daniels, 1914, CA 8th Kan., 211 Fed. 57; Sharp v. Sharp 1941, 154 Kan. 175, 117 P2d 561). In the case of Sharp v. Sharp, *Supra*, the Kansas Court very carefully analyzes a statute identical to our Title 78-12-44, for the purpose of determining whether a judgment can be interpreted as being a "contract" within the meaning of that statute. The Court concluded that a judgment was not a contract within the meaning of that statute, and held that part payment made on a prior judgment did not toll the statute of limitations on a subsequent suit based on that prior judgment.

Our present Section 78-12-44 is the result of the repeal of the former section and the passing of a new statute in 1951. The newly enacted statute was identical with the former one. Had there been any legislative intent to extend the period of limitation on a judgment by the making of part payments, or by the written acknowledgment of the debt, or by court authority, such intent would have been voiced by the legislature at that time. The fact that the legislature has been silent on this question since the original enactment of this statute in 1872 would appear to indicate an intention on the part of the legislature that the word "contract" in the statute not be interpreted to mean "judgment".

Such an implication of legislative intent was reached by the Supreme Court of New Jersey in *La Salle Extension University v. Barr* (1941) 19 NJ Misc. 387, 20 A2d 609. In that case, an action was filed based on a prior judgment. The statute of limitations in New Jersey for such actions

is 20 years, and the case was filed more than 20 years after the original judgment had been entered. In reviewing the statute the court says:

“In New Jersey on the other hand, the statute makes no provision that payment or acknowledgement of an indebtedness within 20 years shall be exception to the presumption of payment after 20 years.

The fact that the New Jersey statute by implication seems to say exactly the opposite” (by not mentioning any means by which the limitations on a judgment might be tolled in a statutory section following immediately upon one providing that the statute running upon certain contracts might be tolled by payment made thereon within the period of limitation.)

As stated by appellant, there is a division of authority in the cases which have been decided on this point of law. However, the better reasoned cases support respondent’s contention herein.

In *La Salle Extension University v. Barr*, *Supra*, the court, in discussing this conflict in decisions states:

“The conflict in the decisions as to whether the running of the statute of limitations is suspended in the case of judgments by payments on account thereof, is due to the difference of opinion as to whether a judgment is a contract within the rule that payment on account of a contract tolls the statute. The better reasoned cases seem to be those holding that a judgment is not a contract.”

The court’s decision in that case, as stated above, was that a part payment on a judgment did not toll the statute.

In the case of *Giordano v. Wolcott*, 134 A2d 593, N.J., the New Jersey Court in a recent decision (1957) affirms

the holding of the La Salle Extension University case, stating:

“Moreover, the result accords with the salutary policy of suppressing the effect of matter dehors the record purporting to extend the life of a judgment which would appear dead to one consulting the record in the course of a title examination. We are not persuaded by decisions in other jurisdictions giving a different effect to statutes they are construing.”

In the case of Mutual Trust & Deposit Company v. Boone, 267 SW 2d 751, (Ky. 1954,) the Kentucky Supreme Court affirmed a decision of the lower court that the statutory period of limitations on a judgment is not extended by the judgment debtor’s promise to pay the judgment. In that case, the court carefully reviewed the historical development of the statutes of limitation and the statutory provision for the tolling of the statute of limitations on contractual obligation by part payment or a new promise to pay. The court concludes as follows:

“We also note that in the Re-Statement of the Law of Contracts, Volume I, Section 86, it is stated that a promise to pay a debt created by contract other than a judgment is binding. The exclusion of judgments from the re-statement of the rule as to contracts becomes significant when it is noted that in the Re-Statement of the Law of Judgments there is no reference to renewal of a judgment by a promise to pay.

Since we have found no Kentucky case which has gone so far as to hold that a promise to pay a judgment tolled the running of the statute of limitations, and since our examination of the general authorities has not convinced us that the Kentucky rules should be extended, we are of the opinion that the trial judge

properly held that a promise to pay the judgment in this case did not extend the statutory period of limitation.”

Some of the foregoing cases have analyzed in great detail the question of whether a judgment constitutes a contract. In addition to the analyses of these various courts, we wish to add our own comment that a contract is ordinarily not a matter of public record, and the tolling of the statute of limitations as provided in 78-12-44 would appear to have no significant effect except upon the parties to the contract. A judgment, on the other hand, is a public record, not only in the county in which it is originally entered, but in any county where it might subsequently be docketed. It becomes a lien upon all the real property of the judgment debtor in the county where it is originally entered and in any subsequent county where it is docketed. The official record of such judgment is relied upon by members of the Bar, by abstractors and by title insurance companies to determine whether any judgment liens on real property are in effect. A holding that part-payments or promises to pay have the effect of tolling the eight-year statute of limitations would create a dilemma with respect to the validity of titles to real property, inasmuch as events entirely outside the official record would have a substantial effect on the validity of a judgment lien.

It is axiomatic that a judgment is not enhanced or made stronger by payment or a promise to pay. A payment or promise to pay cannot change the character or enforceability of the judgment. Why, then, should they

change the applicable statute of limitations, as contended by appellant?

But, even if we accept appellant's contention that such change is brought about by a payment or promise to pay, this case is clearly distinguishable from the cases cited by appellant, because in this case the agreement, and subsequent payments, were not based on a payment of the judgment, but of a compromise amount, presumably arrived at by negotiation between the parties. Thus, in effect, appellant abandoned the judgment in favor of a written agreement. Yet, more than eight years later, he seeks by this action to resurrect that judgment. Ample remedies for the enforcement of the judgment were available to him, including the filing of the present action prior to September 7, 1957. He availed himself of none of those remedies after 1951, and he should not now be allowed to breathe new life into a dead judgment.

CONCLUSION

Respondent contends that the clear intent of the Utah Legislature, as evidenced by the statutes in point, is that an action based on a prior judgment must be commenced within eight years from entry thereof. There is no Utah case authority to the contrary. The better reasoned cases from other jurisdictions hold that the Statute of Limitations pertaining to judgments is not tolled by payments or promises to pay. A serious dilemma as respects titles to real property would result if the contentions of appellant

were upheld. Based on the facts and the law, respondent urges that the decision of the trial court be affirmed.